FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/27/2023 3:59 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 102134-8
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 83043-1-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

# MALCOLM MCGEE,

Respondent.

## APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

### A. INTRODUCTION

Washington's broad exclusionary rule protects privacy and provides a certain remedy when privacy is violated. Our narrow attenuation doctrine fits within the broad exclusionary rule because it applies only where "a superseding cause severs the causal connection between official misconduct and the discovery of evidence." This case presents an opportunity to decide a question left open in <a href="State v. Mayfield">State v. Mayfield</a>, 192 Wn.2d 871, 434 P.3d 58 (2019), to wit: under what circumstances the attenuation doctrine may protect privacy rights without permanently immunizing suspects from completely distinct investigations and prosecutions.

Malcolm McGee was arrested for a narcotics violation after a police officer observed him selling drugs to Keith Ayson. This arrest was later found unlawful, a ruling not challenged on appeal. In a completely independent and unforeseeable act, McGee murdered Ayson the day after this

transaction. Evidence gathered from McGee's arrest was ultimately critical to solving Ayson's murder.

Because McGee's initial arrest was illegal, the trial court applied a remedy for the violation of his privacy—it suppressed the drugs and dismissed the related VUCSA charge. But the trial court permitted use of the evidence against McGee in the murder case, finding Ayson's death sufficiently attenuated. The Court of Appeals held, however, that evidence from the seizure must also be suppressed as to the murder, simply because evidence from the seizure was causally connected to the illegal arrest. This holding does not follow from existing case law.

This Court's attenuation cases have dealt only with fact patterns where police misconduct is attenuated from the seizure of evidence that led to prosecution for the crime of arrest. Here, however, the evidence was suppressed as to the original crime but allowed as to a completely new and unforeseeable offense, one which was attenuated from the initial illegality. This case presents an opportunity for this Court to clarify how

Washington's attenuation doctrine applies in such circumstances.

## B. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Respondent below, respectfully requests that this Court review the published decision of the Court of Appeals in State v. McGee, No. 83043-1 (May 30, 2023), a copy of which is attached as Appendix A.

# C. <u>ISSUE FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> GRANTED

Does Washington's attenuation doctrine allow the State to use unlawfully obtained evidence when an independent and unforeseeable act later makes it relevant to a different crime?

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# 1. JUNE 3RD – ARREST OF MCGEE.

Keith Ayson and Desiree Burchette were in a dating relationship for approximately two years. RP 1658 (4/7/2021). They lived together in a Burien apartment until June 2017,

when they became homeless. RP 1659, 1704-07 (4/7/2021). Ayson and Burchette were both heroin users, and Ayson regularly purchased their drug supply from McGee. RP 1673-74 (4/7/2021); RP 2221-22 (4/14/2021). These transactions usually occurred near the Boulevard Park library in Burien. RP 2227-28 (4/14/2021).

On June 3, 2017, Detective Hawley was working undercover in the Boulevard Park neighborhood when he observed Ayson pacing around while anxiously checking his cell phone. RP 2308-10 (4/14/2021). A silver Chrysler Sebring sedan pulled up and Ayson got into the front passenger seat. RP 2309 (4/14/2021). The Chrysler drove a short distance and pulled over on the side of the road. RP 2313 (4/14/2021). After a few minutes, Ayson got out of the car, put a small object in his pocket, and walked away. RP 2316 (4/14/2021).

Believing he had witnessed a drug transaction, Detective Hawley followed the Chrysler to a nearby apartment complex and detained the driver, who he identified as McGee. RP 2317-

19 (4/14/2021). Detective Hawley released McGee at the scene after he provided his phone number and agreed to become a confidential informant. RP 2320-22 (4/14/2021). However, McGee never contacted Detective Hawley again. RP 2322 (4/14/2021). McGee later told an associate that he believed Detective Hawley's stop had occurred because Ayson "snitched on him." RP 2251 (4/14/2021).

#### 2. JUNE 4TH – MCGEE MURDERS AYSON.

Ronald Elliot lived near a dead-end street with a steep incline on one side leading down to a forested creek bed. RP 1411-12 (4/6/2021). On the afternoon of June 4, 2017, Elliot noticed two Black males walking away from a silver Chrysler sedan parked near his home. RP 1412-13, 1420, 1424 (4/6/2021). Shortly after the men walked out of view, Elliot heard gunshots and then saw the Chrysler speed away a few minutes later. RP 1417-25, 1485 (4/6/2021). Elliot called 911 at approximately 4 p.m. to report hearing gunfire, but responding

officers cleared the scene after finding no obvious signs of violence. RP 1427, 1492-1500 (4/6/2021).

In the following weeks, Elliot began noticing a foul and increasingly strong odor emanating from the ravine, which he initially assumed was from food waste or a dead animal. RP 1430-31 (4/6/2021). On July 11, 2017, Elliot went down to investigate and discovered a human body, which he quickly reported to 911. RP 1171 (4/5/2021); RP 1431-33 (4/6/2021).

Responding officers found a heavily decomposed corpse that was "on its way to being...skeletonized." RP 1235 (4/5/2021). The decedent was wearing a jacket with obvious bullet holes, and detectives recovered three .40 caliber shell casings near the body. RP 1188, 1241, 1261 (4/5/2021); RP 1850, 1879-81, 1937-41 (4/12/2021); RP 2079, 2108 (4/13/2021). The identity of the body was initially surmised using cards found in Ayson's wallet, and later confirmed through dental records. RP 1282, 1244-47 (4/5/2021); RP 1811 (4/8/2021). Ayson's pockets also contained a cellular phone and

\$137.54 in cash. RP 1242-47 (12/5/2021). Medical examiners later observed three gunshot wounds to Ayson's chest and recovered a bullet from his abdominal cavity. RP 1279-99, 1309 (4/5/2021); RP 1956-57 (4/12/2021); RP 2119 (4/13/2021).

Using various records, the date of Ayson's death was estimated to be June 4, 2017, because that was when "all activity associated to Mr. Ayson ended." RP 2053 (4/12/2021). Ayson's EBT card, through which he received State benefits, ceased activity after the morning of June 4th, despite having a substantial available balance. RP 1626-30, 1640 (4/7/2021). Ayson's cellular phone made no outgoing calls after approximately 3:30 p.m. on June 4th. RP 2051-53, 2427-31 (4/12/2021). On June 8th, Ayson's phone connected to a cell tower near where his body was eventually found to receive an incoming call, suggesting he was already dead by that time. RP 2436 (4/15/2021).

Detectives searched a police database to determine Ayson's associations and discovered his connection to McGee from the record of Detective Hawley's narcotics stop. RP 1943, 1966 (4/12/2021); RP 2498-99 (4/19/2021). They then noted that McGee owned a silver Chrysler sedan consistent with Elliot's observations. RP 1947 (4/12/2021).

Police records also led investigators to contact Burchette. RP 1948-49, 1964-65 (4/12/2021). Burchette was acquainted with McGee through Ayson, and she confirmed McGee's identity using a photograph. RP 1665 (4/7/2021); RP 1987 (4/12/2021). Burchette told police that shortly before Ayson disappeared, McGee had offered her a ride and then propositioned her for sex. RP 1662, 1673 (4/7/2021). Offended, Burchette exited McGee's car and walked away. RP 1673-77 (4/7/2021).

Burchette soon found Ayson by the library and told him what had happened, which made Ayson "very mad." RP 1678 (4/7/2021). Ayson immediately called McGee to discuss the

incident. RP 1679 (4/7/2021); RP 1765 (4/8/2021). Burchette saw McGee pick Ayson up and drive away, which was the last time she ever saw Ayson alive. RP 1680-81 (4/7/2021).

Sometime after Ayson disappeared, a witness recalled conversing with McGee and discussing a rumor that Ayson "got beat." RP 2237 (4/14/2021). McGee corrected him, saying "I heard he got shot." RP 2237 (4/14/2021). This was significant because the police had not publicly released the cause of Ayson's death, and McGee's knowledge thus strongly suggested his involvement. RP 1961 (4/16/2021). McGee appeared to be happy that Ayson was dead. RP 2238 (4/14/2021).

On August 1, 2017, McGee was arrested, and his car and cellular phone were seized pending a search warrant. RP 1860-65 (4/12/2021). Assuming the arrest was solely for failing to perform as a confidential informant, McGee stated that he did not contact Detective Hawley because "the person he was going"

to provide information on had been murdered." RP 2508 (4/19/2021).

Detectives later obtained search warrants for both McGee and Ayson's cellular data. RP 2356 (4/15/2021). Relevant to this petition, the warrant for McGee's cellular data relied on information gleaned as a direct result of Detective Hawley's unlawful seizure.

The records showed that Ayson called McGee twice on June 4th, before his cellular activity ceased. RP 2375 (4/15/2021); RP 2530-31 (4/19/2021). Although McGee normally used his phone frequently throughout the day, he sent no text messages from approximately 3 to 6 p.m. on June 4th. RP 2629 (4/19/2021). At around 6:30 p.m. that evening, McGee texted a friend that he had "just got into some shit" and then texted his girlfriend that he was "going through something way more important than any [woman]." RP 2648, 2653 (4/20/2021).

Cellular location data showed that Ayson and McGee's phones were both near the Boulevard Park library on the afternoon of June 4th. RP 2424 (4/15/2021). At around the same time Elliot called 911 to report hearing gunshots, McGee's phone connected to sector 2 of tower 84883¹, which was located approximately ¼ mile from the ravine where Ayson's body was eventually found. RP 2437-38 (4/15/2021); RP 2532-33 (4/19/2021). This is the same tower Elliot's phone had connected to when he called 911 on June 4th. RP 2616 (4/19/2021). Investigators later confirmed that this tower and sector provided service by the ravine. RP 2443 (4/15/2021).

McGee's phone did not connect to tower 84883 at any other time on June 4th. RP 2533 (4/19/2021). Based on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Each cellular tower provides coverage in a full 360-degree radius, divided into three 120-degree sectors. RP 2403 (4/15/2021); RP 2525 (4/19/2021). Analyzing tower data can show which sector of the tower a phone connected to at any particular time. RP 2525 (4/19/2021). A phone will generally connect to whichever sector has the strongest signal. RP 2404 (4/15/2021).

tower's coverage area, it was essentially impossible that the call could have been made from McGee's nearby apartment complex because there was another tower that was much closer and had a clearer line of sight. RP 2439-41, 2479 (4/15/2021); RP 2584-88 (4/19/2021). Investigators attempted to obtain a signal from tower 84883 from the apartment complex as a test and were unable to obtain service. RP 2439 (4/15/2021).

McGee's first trial ended in a hung jury. RP 1821 (8/21/2019). He was later convicted of second-degree murder upon retrial. CP 534.

3. THE TRIAL COURT'S ATTENUATION
RULING SUPPRESSED EVIDENCE FROM
THE JUNE 3RD ARREST AND
TERMINATED THE DRUG PROSECUTION,
BUT ALLOWED EVIDENCE TO PROVE
THE MURDER.

McGee moved to suppress the June 3rd arrest at his first trial, arguing that Detective Hawley did not have reasonable suspicion to justify an investigatory detention. RP 547 (7/31/2019). The trial court granted McGee's motion, finding

that Detective Hawley's observations were innocuous and that the stop was essentially based on a hunch. RP 553-54 (7/31/2019). As a result, the court suppressed the drugs found on McGee's person and dismissed a second count charging him with drug possession. RP 585 (7/31/2019).

The defense team at McGee's first trial did not challenge the various search warrants. RP 718 (3/29/2021). Defense counsel at McGee's second trial, however, argued the warrants were invalid because they relied on facts from Detective Hawley's unlawful detention to establish probable cause. RP 719 (3/29/2021).

The trial court denied McGee's motion to suppress, finding the investigation into Ayson's death sufficiently attenuated from Detective Hawley's unlawful detention:

The attenuation doctrine is applicable in this case. The murder of Keith Ayson, the investigation into his murder and the discovery of his body and cell phone were completely unforeseeable intervening actions that were separate from the June 3, 2017 stop and severed the causal connection between the misconduct on June 3, 2017 and the discovery of the cell phone evidence.

CP 548; RP 962-66 (3/30/2021).<sup>2</sup>

#### 4. THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSED.

The Court of Appeals concluded that the attenuation doctrine did not apply because Detective Hawley's stop, from which information necessary to the murder investigation was obtained, was the underlying unlawful act itself, as opposed to *new* information for which the unlawful seizure was a distant but-for cause. McGee, 83043-1 at 11. It therefore concluded that any information obtained by Detective Hawley was irredeemably tainted. This holding invalidated the initial search warrant for McGee's cellular data, which had a domino effect on all subsequent warrants and rendered his conviction untenable.

The State now seeks this Court's review of the Court of Appeals' attenuation doctrine analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court also ruled that the independent source doctrine applied. However, the State did not pursue this argument on appeal, and it is not relevant to the present petition.

# E. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court if, *inter alia*, the decision below raises a significant question of constitutional law or involves an issue of substantial public interest. The error below satisfies both criteria.

1. THE SCOPE OF WASHINGTON'S
ATTENUATION DOCTRINE IS A
SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL
ISSUE THAT IS CURRENTLY
UNDERDEVELOPED AND HAS NEVER
BEEN APPLIED IN THIS CONTEXT.

The "attenuation doctrine" is compatible with the greater protections of our state constitution because Washington's exclusionary rule "does not operate on a strict 'but for' causation basis." Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d at 882. Accordingly, evidence can still be admitted in some circumstances even where it "likely would not have been discovered but for a prior article I, section 7 violation." Id.

Finding the federal doctrine overly broad, however, this

Court established a "narrow, Washington-specific attenuation

doctrine, to be applied only where the State proves that unforeseeable intervening circumstances truly severed the causal connection between official misconduct and the discovery of evidence." <u>Id.</u> at 895. Under <u>Mayfield</u>, evidence derived from an underlying constitutional violation remains admissible "[w]hen an independent, intervening act of a third person...which was not reasonably foreseeable" breaks the "causal connection" between police misconduct and the discovery of evidence. <u>Id.</u> at 897.

The State did not challenge the trial court's finding that

Detective Hawley's detention of McGee was unlawful, or that
the information gleaned therefrom was essential to the search
warrants executed by law enforcement. Rather, the issue for this
Court's review is entirely one of law – whether the attenuation
doctrine can be applied to information gained using an unlawful
source when the underlying tainted evidence becomes relevant
in a new and unforeseeable way.

Mayfield itself does not answer this question. Mayfield was unlawfully detained but gave permission for police to search his truck, where narcotics were discovered. 192 Wn.2d at 899. The State argued the drugs were admissible despite the unlawful seizure because Mayfield's voluntary consent to search was sufficiently attenuating. Id.

This Court disagreed, concluding that attenuation did not apply because Mayfield's consent was a direct and foreseeable product of the unlawful police action. The present case is different. Unlike Mayfield's consent to search, McGee's decision to murder Ayson was logically and temporally removed from any police coercion – it was an "unforeseeable act[] of independent free will," not a natural consequence of Detective Hawley's seizure. Id.

The Court of Appeals focused on language from

Mayfield stating that "[t]here must be some proximate causal
connection between official misconduct and the discovery of

evidence for the exclusionary rule to apply." 192 Wn.2d at 891

(emphasis added). Based on the bolded phrasing from Mayfield, the Court of Appeals concluded that attenuation could never render the "original, illegal, June 3 discoveries" usable; rather attenuation could only apply to "new discovery." McGee, No. 83043-1 at 11-12.

These facts represent a novel *application* of Washington's attenuation doctrine, but not an *expansion* of it. The fundamental purpose of Washington's exclusionary rule is to protect privacy and provide an appropriate remedy. In response to the violation of McGee's privacy, the court below both suppressed the narcotics evidence and terminated the drug prosecution based on the privacy violation that occurred.

But while Washington's exclusionary rule is meant to prohibit the use of evidence proximate to an illegality, it also permits the prosecution to present information that is remote or attenuated from a constitutional violation. The facts here present such a situation, and this permutation has never before been considered by Washington courts. This is, essentially, a

"reverse attenuation," whereby an instance of misconduct can become so attenuated by subsequent events that a proximate causal connection to the later prosecution no longer exists.

Again, applying "reverse attenuation" does not mean lessening the protections described in Mayfield. The critical elements of attenuation described in that case — "unforeseen intervening circumstances" — must still be present. Furthermore, attenuation would still not apply if the intervening act was a natural consequence of the official misconduct.

When the court suppressed the narcotics and dismissed the drug prosecution against McGee, it essentially excluded the consequences of the investigation that were foreseeable, and thus unattenuated, from subsequent events. Detective Hawley's investigation only became newly relevant due to McGee's extraordinary, unforeseen, and intervening decision to murder Ayson. Because past events can only be re-evaluated upon the occurrence of an independent and unforeseeable act,

applications of the attenuation doctrine like this one will be exceedingly rare.

The Court of Appeals reading of attenuation would ultimately create a variation of the strict but-for causation rule that Mayfield rejected. It is also inconsistent with longstanding Washington precedent, which has already recognized in other contexts that official misconduct can become legally actionable in light of subsequent events. Observations made during an unlawful seizure, for example, can still be used to prosecute a defendant for subsequently eluding or assaulting the officers who effected the illegal detention. State v. Aydelotte, 35 Wn. App. 125, 133, 665 P.2d 443 (1983); State v. Mierz, 72 Wn. App. 783, 794, 866 P.2d 65 (1994); State v. Brown, 40 Wn. App. 91, 96, 697 P.2d 583 (1985).

This Court has not substantively addressed Washington's attenuation doctrine since <u>Mayfield</u>. With a dearth of precedent to guide it, the Court of Appeals overgeneralized <u>Mayfield</u> when applying it to a very different and rarely occurring factual

context. This Court should grant review to define the scope of Washington's attenuation doctrine, and whether it permits the use of tainted evidence when intervening and independent acts have made it relevant in novel ways that could not possibly have been foreseen when the official misconduct occurred.

2. WHETHER TAINTED POLICE
INVESTIGATIONS CAN EVER BE
SALVAGED IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL
PUBLIC INTEREST BECAUSE IT COULD
RESULT IN CONVICTED MURDERERS
GOING FREE.

As the State conceded, Detective Hawley's initial investigation was necessary to the finding of probable cause for the initial search warrants into McGee's cellular data. If that warrant is suppressed, the subsequent warrants also fail.

Without this evidence, McGee may well escape accountability for murdering Ayson.

While this would obviously be a tremendously impactful result in this case, it would also have much larger implications.

Of course, a constitutional violation is not excusable merely

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