FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
7/26/2023 12:24 PM  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

NO. 102134-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

MALCOLM MCGEE,

Respondent.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Leroy McCullough, Judge

---

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

JARED B. STEED  
Attorney for Respondent  
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC  
The Denny Building  
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250  
Seattle, Washington 98121  
206-623-2373

**

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

McGee was interrogated by police that same day. 4RP 2509, 2523, 2562; Trial Exhibit 146. Police had been given the T-Mobile cellphone records before the interview. 4RP 2523, 2526-27. Although untrue, police told McGee they had determined from the call records that numbers 1592 and 4399 were together on June 4, 2017. In fact, “it [was] impossible to tell if two phones were in the exact, same location based on the records[.]” 4RP 2550-51.

A search of the cellphone seized from McGee during his arrest contained pictures of himself and a silver 2005 Chrysler Sebring. 4RP 2621. Two calls were placed to the cellphone from number 4399 at 3:29 p.m. and 3:43 p.m. on June 4, 2017. 4RP 2629. Approximately 13,900 text messages were sent from the phone between June 1 and August 1, 2017. 4RP 2625. There were no outgoing text messages between 2:56 and 5:48 on June 4, 2017. 4RP 2629, 2645-47, 2655-56. An outgoing text message sent at 6:37 p.m. to a number associated with McGee's girlfriend, stated "I will come. I just got into some shit." 4RP 2648-50. An outgoing text message sent at 9:41 p.m. stated, "You're a trip. I'm going through something way more important[.]" 4RP 2653. Police could not determine which person had sent the text messages or made the calls from the phone 4RP 2304-05.

Federal Bureau of Investigation agent, Jennifer Banks, conducted a historical cell site analysis in 2018 for telephone numbers 4399 and 1592. 4RP 2409. Banks analyzed the call records from June 4, 2017, between 2:00 p.m. and 5:00 p.m. 4RP



2410, 2464-65. Banks focused on which cell towers would provide coverage for the Whisperwood apartments and ravine where Ayson's body was found. 4RP 2410-11.

Number 1592 moved frequently, even within a few hours' time. 4RP 2477. Calls involving number 1592 began on June 4, 2017, around 2:20 p.m., with a tower that would provide cell coverage to the Boulevard Park Library, facilitating calls at 2:46 p.m. and 2:48 p.m. 4RP 2425, 2427. Number 1592 then moved south of that tower between 2:55 p.m. and 3:34 p.m. 4RP 2427.

Banks opined that number 4399 used a tower that would provide cell coverage to the Boulevard Park Library to call number 1592 at 3:20 p.m. and 3:43 p.m. 4RP 2424-25, 2428, 2431. Number 1592 moved north between 3:34 p.m. and 4:15 p.m. when it used tower sectors 84942-3 and 84883-2, 22, which could also have provided coverage to 17<sup>th</sup> Place South. 4RP 2428-32, 2437, 2443. Banks also opined that two towers, 92467 and 84974, located across Boeing Field, would provide coverage to 17<sup>th</sup> Place South. 4RP 2437-39, 2449. Number 1592 connected

to tower 92467 at 4:17 p.m. on June 4, 2017. 4RP 2438-39. Banks acknowledged that number 1592 would not have to be on 17<sup>th</sup> Place South to connect to those towers, and she could not say exactly where the phone was located during those times. 4RP 2476, 2481, 2578-79.

Banks also opined that tower 84883 would not provide cell coverage to the Whisperwood apartments. 4RP 2439-41, 2479. Banks did not, however, do a full drive test however and took no readings from the inside of any apartments or even every apartment parking lot. 4RP 2440-41, 2451-52, 2458-60, 2469, 2474, 2477-78.

Number 4399 received an incoming call on June 8, 2017, at 9:50 a.m. using tower 97535-12. 4RP 2436, 2454. The call was of “zero duration,” and Banks opined it would be consistent with the phone holder lying in the ravine on 17<sup>th</sup> Place South. 4RP 2436-37. As Banks acknowledged, however, during her testing she did not connect to tower 97535-12 when at the ravine. 4RP 2454-55.

Digital forensic analyst, Terry Lahman, disagreed with Banks' conclusion as to which cell towers would provide coverage at the Whisperwood apartments. 4RP 2674, 2688, 2692, 2696, 2737. Although Banks opined that tower 84883 would not provide cell coverage to the apartments, Lahman maintained there was "no scientific or digital evidence to support" that conclusion. 4RP 2745-46. For example, Lahman's own testing showed that four different cell tower sectors handled calls when exiting the Whisperwood apartment parking lot. One of those towers also provided service to the Boulevard Park Library. 4RP 2694-98. Lahman opined that more than one cell tower could provide coverage to the Whisperwood apartments. 4RP 2696, 2737.

Lahman agreed that it was possible to connect to towers 84883 and 97535 at 17<sup>th</sup> Place South, and towers 97551 and 84974 at the Whisperwood apartments. 4RP 2733-36. But Lahman opined tower 84883 could transmit a cell signal from more than two miles away. 4RP 2717. Although Lahman never

connected to tower 84883 during his own testing, as he explained, this simply demonstrated that “different results can occur on different days on different locations of the antenna. Any number of factors can affect the results of these drive tests.” 4RP 2721-22, 2740, 2754-55. Indeed, although Lahman explained that it was impossible to pinpoint the exact location of a phone during a call, number 1592 connected to tower 84883 37 times between May 8 and June 4, 2017. 4RP 2727, 2733.

2. *Motion to Suppress.*

McGee moved to suppress the June 3 arrest at his first trial, arguing Hawley lacked specific individualized facts to justify the investigatory detention. CP 581-93. The trial court concluded there was no reasonable articulable suspicion to stop McGee, and the drugs found on McGee were suppressed. Ultimately, the possession charge was dismissed. CP 547 (FF u); 1RP 553-54.

Over McGee’s objection however, the trial court ruled that to exclude the motive evidence would violate the exclusionary rule’s purpose of ensuring that the dignity of the court is

maintained. 1RP 905. The trial court ruled that evidence of the drugs and possession charge were not admissible, but that other evidence from the June 3 stop was admissible, including “fact of the arrest,” “general chronology,” “the confidential agreement that followed,” and “who was there during the time of the arrest.” 1RP 903-04, 906-08, 1242-43; CP 547-48 (FF u). Additionally, informing McGee of his Miranda<sup>[2]</sup> rights was held to be “an intervening act and the illegal stop did not taint McGee’s waiver of his Miranda rights.” CP 674 (conclusion of law h).

Before the start of his second trial, McGee moved to suppress evidence discovered through his arrest and the execution of four search warrants on July 13, 28, and August 1 and 3, 2017. CP 336-432. McGee argued the warrants relied on evidence obtained through the illegal June 3 stop and lacked sufficient independent evidence to justify their issuance. As a result, McGee argued all the evidence had to be suppressed as fruit of the

---

<sup>2</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

poisonous tree. CP 336-432; 3RP 38-40, 70, 105-10; 4RP 738-47, 751-52, 755-59, 779-82.

The trial court denied McGee's motion to suppress evidence discovered from his arrest and the execution of the search warrants. CP 545-49; 4RP 957-69. Noting that McGee's telephone number was in the King County Sheriff database from a prior March 15, 2017 contact, the trial court concluded that the search warrants were not completely based on the illegal June 3 stop. 4RP 960-63; CP 548 (Conclusion of Law a). As a result, the court reasoned that both of those sources of information were independent from the illegal stop. CP 548 (Conclusions of Law f-k).

The trial court concluded that investigation into Ayson's death, including the cellphone in his pocket, were independent of McGee's illegal June 3 stop and were therefore sufficiently attenuated to sever the causal connection between the June 3 misconduct and the cellphone evidence. 4RP 963-65; CP 548 (Conclusion of Law d-e).

3. *Court of Appeals Decision.*

The Court of Appeals concluded the State failed to show the homicide attenuated the taint of Hawley's unconstitutional conduct. As the Court of Appeals reasoned, the homicide was not an intervening act amounting to a superseding cause, because it was not what caused any of the State's June 3 evidentiary discoveries. Rather, the homicide only led the State to look again at the evidence it had already unlawfully obtained from McGee. Slip op. at 11-13.

The Court of Appeals recognized that if Hawley's June 3 discoveries from McGee cannot be used under the attenuation doctrine, then each subsequent warrant fails. Because each subsequent warrant including the August 1, 2017 arrest warrant depended on information gathered from the June 3 seizure for probable cause, the Court of Appeals suppressed all information learned from these warrants, including McGee's custodial statements on August 1, 2017. Slip op. at 13-14. Because the State failed to show there was "untainted evidence admitted at

trial” that was “so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt,” the Court of Appeals reversed McGee’s conviction. Slip op. at 14 (citing State v. Elwell, 199 Wn.2d 256, 270, 505 P.3d 101 (2022)).

The prosecution has asked this Court to grant review. McGee now files this answer to the petition under RAP 13.4(d).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

**The Court of Appeals decision is fact specific and consistent with the narrow, Washington-specific attenuation doctrine articulated by State v. Mayfield.**

1. *There is no significant constitutional issue that remains undeveloped under Washington’s attenuation doctrine.*

Mayfield has already addressed the applicability of the attenuation doctrine to Article 1, section 7. Washington follows a “nearly categorical” rule of excluding from trial evidence obtained in violation of article, section 7 with “no exceptions that rely on speculation, the likelihood of deterrence, or the reasonableness of official misconduct.” Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d at 888. Thus, Washington law permits no exception to the



exclusionary rule if that exception would allow the state to benefit from an illegal search. Id. at 891.

Mayfield has also answered the question of how to employ that doctrine to determine whether an intervening act is sufficiently attenuating. 192 Wn.2d at 897-98. “The only question is whether unforeseeable intervening actions genuinely severed the causal connection between official misconduct and the discovery of evidence.” Id. 898-99. This is a “highly-fact-specific inquiry that must account for the totality of the circumstances” in keeping with the “narrowly and carefully applied” article I, section 7, attenuation doctrine. Id.

Consistent with these principles, the Court of Appeals decision properly concludes the homicide was not an intervening act amounting to a superseding cause, because it was not what caused any of the State’s June 3 evidentiary discoveries. Rather, the homicide only led the State to look again at the evidence it had already unlawfully obtained from McGee. Slip op. at 11-13.

While the prosecution contends this is a novel application of Washington's attenuation doctrine, it concedes it is not an expansion of it. State's Pet. at 18-19. In fact, it is neither. The Court of Appeals opinion merely recognizes the multiple problems inherent in the prosecution's argument.

First, permitting the State to benefit from the unlawful June 3 seizure just because evidence gathered therefrom becomes relevant after the fact, would improperly allow the prosecution to benefit from the illegal search in violation of Washington's exclusionary rule. Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d at 891.

Second, even assuming the State's reevaluation of already illegally obtained evidence can be construed as a "new discovery" the fact remains that it was illegally obtained in the first instance. The State does not satisfy its burden of proving that intervening circumstances severed the causal connection between official misconduct and the discovery of evidence by merely showing that *additional* proximate causes of the discovery of evidence exist. Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d at 898.

Finally, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognizes, if the June 4 homicide was the cause of the State's "derivative use" of its June 3 discoveries, then this amounts to an improper inevitable discovery argument. Slip op. at 13. In short, the Court of Appeals correctly recognizes that because the homicide occurred after the June 3 evidentiary discoveries, the homicide was not the cause of any of those discoveries, even if the evidence became relevant in a different way after the fact. Slip op. at 11-12.

The prosecution nonetheless argues the Court of Appeals opinion is inconsistent with other cases which hold that police misconduct can become legally actionable given subsequent events. See State's Pet. at 20 (citing State v. Aydelotte, 35 Wn. App. 125, 133, 665 P.2d 443 (1983); State v. Mierz, 72 Wn. App. 783, 794, 866 P.2d 65 (1994); State v. Brown, 40 Wn. App. 91, 96, 697 P.2d 583 (1985)). Each of these cited cases predates Mayfield by decades, analyzes the issue under the federal exclusionary rule, if at all, and focuses on conduct affecting the

safety of police officers; conduct which is not constitutionally protected and is therefore outside the scope of the exclusionary rule.

Moreover, as the Court of Appeals properly recognized, in each of those cases, admission of the illegal police action was attenuated by a defendant's new act of free will, rather than law enforcement's coercion. Slip op. at 10-11. Here, however, McGee's alleged actions were induced by the unlawful June 3 seizure. He was facing criminal charges and forced to work as a confidential informant to avoid prosecution. The prosecution's entire "theory of the case is that the defendant killed the victim because he believed the victim was responsible for his arrest and may also be working with police." CP 617; 1RP 891-93. This "theory" was the entire basis for admitting McGee's illegal June 3 seizure as evidence of motive in his murder trial. Thus, the illegal June 3 discoveries and the subsequent events are causally linked.

The Court of Appeals opinion here is consistent with Mayfield and limited to the particular facts of McGee's case. As

the prosecution concedes, the Court of Appeals decision is neither an improper expansion of Washington's attenuation doctrine, nor likely to reoccur given that McGee's case involves a "rarely occurring factual context." State's Pet. at 18, 20.

2. *There is no issue of substantial public interest.*

The fact the Court of Appeals correctly applied the attenuation doctrine, to the prosecution's detriment, does not cause this case to rise to the level of substantial public interest. The parade of horrors on display in the prosecution's petition does not change this. Although the prosecution contends this case will "render[] every piece of information in government database a potential ticking time bomb[,]" this is mere hyperbole.

In reality, police database information is only at risk of exclusion when, as here, it was found to have been obtained illegally in the first instance, and then also, exclusively relied upon in a subsequent investigation involving the very same person from which it was illegally obtained. In short, the scope of the Court of Appeals' opinion here is extremely limited and

will only arise in situations nearly factually identical to McGee's. See State's Pet. at 20 (recognizing McGee's case involves a "rarely occurring factual context.").

The prosecution argues the Court of Appeals opinion will permit McGee to escape accountability. State's Pet. at 21. This is not the proper inquiry under Mayfield. 192 Wn.2d at 897-99. The prosecution had the opportunity to meet its burden of proving the "untainted evidence admitted at trial" was "so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." Slip Op. at 13-14 (quoting State v. Elwell, 199 Wn.2d 256, 270, 505 P.3d 101 (2022)). It failed to do so.

In any event, the opinion draws a clear distinction between that evidence which was suppressed and that which was not. While the Court of Appeals suppressed information learned from the search and arrest warrants, it left room for the trial court to determine on remand whether other information learned by Hawley on June 3 is admissible. This potentially includes

information gathered by Hawley via an “unaided eye from a nonintrusive vantage point.” Slip op. at 15.

The Court of Appeals opinion is correct based on the facts and law. There is no conflict in any area of substantial public importance that warrants review.

F. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision is thorough, limited in scope, and correctly decided under Mayfield. It presents no new questions of substantial public interest. This Court should deny the State’s petition.

**I certify that this document contains 4,544 words, excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.**